
MEETING OF HARLOW COUNCIL 
 

Thursday, 14 December, 2017 at 7.30pm 
 

In the Council Chamber, Civic Centre 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any items on the 

agenda. 
 

3. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 15) 
 
 To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 2 November 2017. 

 
4. Communications from the Chair   
 
5. Petitions from the Public   
 
6. Questions from the Public   
 
7. Questions from Councillors   
 
8. Motions from Councillors   
 
9. References from Cabinet and Committees   
 
 a) Referral from Licensing Committee on 21 November 2017 - 

Designation of Licensed Vehicles under the Equality Act 2010  
(Pages 16 - 33) 

   
Recommended to Full Council that the powers in the Equality Act 
2010 to designate  licensed vehicles which are capable of carrying 
a passenger when seated in a reference wheelchair, be approved 
 

 b) Referral from Licensing Committee on 21 November 2017 - 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Fees and Charges Proposals  
(Pages 34 - 40) 

 
  Recommended to Full Council that, as part of the Council’s annual 

budget setting process, the proposed revised Hackney Carriage 
and private hire licensing fee structure, as set out in Appendix 1 of 
the report, be adopted with effect from 1 April 2018. 
 

Public Document Pack



 c) Referral from Cabinet on 7 December 2017 - Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement 2017/18: Mid-Year Review (to 
follow) 

 
 d) Referral from Cabinet on 7 December 2017 - Local Council Tax 

Support Scheme Proposals 2018/19  (to follow) 
 

10. Reports from Officers   
 
 None. 

 
11. Minutes of Cabinet and Committee Meetings   
 
 To note the following Cabinet and Committee minutes: 

 
 a) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 10 October 2017 of Scrutiny 

Committee  (Pages 41 - 43) 
 

 b) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 21 November 2017 of Licensing 
Committee  (Pages 44 - 46) 

 
 c) Minutes of Scrutiny Committee, 28 November 2017  (to follow)   

 
 d) Minutes od Audit & Standards Committee, 29 November 2017 (to 

follow)   
 

12. Matters of Urgent Business   
 



 

MINUTES OF THE COUNCIL 

HELD ON 

 

2 November 2017 7.30  - 8.40 pm 
 

PRESENT 

 

COUNCILLORS 

 

OFFICERS 

Sue Livings (Chair) 
Maggie Hulcoop (Vice-Chair) 
 

Brian Keane, Acting Managing 
Director 
Lisa Thornett, Corporate and 
Governance Support Officer 
Janet Jackson, Corporate and 
Governance Support Manager 
Adam Rees, Corporate and 
Governance Support Officer 
 

Ian Beckett 
David Carter 
Simon Carter 
Joel Charles 
Jean Clark 
Jon Clempner 
Karen Clempner 
Mike Danvers 
Bob Davis 
Tony Durcan 
Waida Forman 
Michael Garnett 
Tony Hall 
 

Mark Ingall 
Eddie Johnson 
Dan Long 
Bill Pryor 
Danny Purton 
Lanie Shears 
Clive Souter 
John Strachan 
Edna Stevens 
Emma Toal 
Phil Waite 
Mark Wilkinson 
 

44. CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENT  

 
The Chair of the Council, Councillor Sue Livings, asked that a minute’s 
silence be held following the tragedies in Las Vegas and New York. 
 
Following the minute’s silence, the Chair welcomed Councillor Edwards to 
his first Council meeting.  
 

45. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies were received from Councillors Andrew Johnson, Shona 
Johnson, Stefan Mullard and Nick Churchill. 
 

46. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
Councillor Waida Forman declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 9 as she 
is an employee of the Princess Alexandra Hospital.  
 

47. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 
2017 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

 
 

Public Document Pack

3

Agenda Item 3



48. COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE CHAIR  

 
The Chair took this opportunity to thank Councillor Souter and the Corporate 
Governance Support Officer for their help in organising a successful Golf 
Day. 
 
The Chair advised that she had many functions but the ones that were 
particularly memorable to her were the ones that involved the young people 
of Harlow, such as, Passmores Yearly Awards & Army Cadets Awards 
Ceremony.  
 
The Chair also mentioned that on Monday 30 October 2017 she had hosted 
an event where Razed Roof was presented with the Queens Award for 
Voluntary Services for inclusion in the community by the Lord Lieutenant. 
 
She reminded her colleagues of future events arising, such as Bonfire Night 
on Sunday 5 November 2017, Remembrance Service on Friday 10 
November 2017 and the annual Chair’s Quiz which takes place on Thursday 
23 November 2017. 
 
Councillor Garnett presented the Chair with the award that he was given on 
behalf of the Council from the Architectural Awards for the regeneration to 
the Town Park. 
 

49. PRESENTATION OF CIVIC AWARDS  

 
The Chair presented the following Civic Awards to local individuals, who 
were unable to attend Annual Council, in recognition of their commitment 
and contribution to the local community. 
 
 Richard Chiassaro 
 Ryan Lambert 
 

50. PETITIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  

 
None. 
 

51. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  

 
The questions together with their answers are appended to these minutes.  
 

52. QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS  

 
The questions together with their answers are appended to these minutes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4



53. MOTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS 
 

a) Princess Alexandra Hospital 
 
Proposed by Councillor Jon Clempner, seconded by Councillor Tony Durcan 
it was moved that: 
 
The Council recognises the conscientious commitment of staff at Princess 
Alexandra Hospital (PAH) and notes with extreme concern the current 
recruitment and physical infrastructure needs at PAH.   
  
Staff shortages, including a nurse vacancy rate of 25 per cent, have left 
wards struggling with the amount of patients. The A & E Department 
struggles to deliver the national four-hour standard. Two other local 
hospitals have changed into Urgent Care Centres which only deal with 
minor injuries. This creates an additional demand for services on PAH which 
deals with major injuries, life threatening chest pains and head injuries as 
well as minor injuries. 
  
Many parts of the physical infrastructure at PAH is beyond its designed life 
and is unable to accommodate patients in a manner appropriate for a 21st 
Century health facility. Indeed, water ingress and sewage egress in some 
vital areas presents real risks to the integrity of the hospital.   
  
The Council believes that urgent investment is required to address the 
challenges faced by the hospital now and that a commitment needs to be 
given for the provision of a new hospital. A new hospital, as part of a health 
and wellbeing campus, that would provide services adequate to ensure that 
the residents of Harlow and its surrounding areas will benefit from 
emergency and GP services, physiotherapy units, social care, a new 
ambulance hub and a training centre for nursing and healthcare. 
  
The Council resolves to, together with the MP for Harlow, urge the 
Government to: 
 
a) Ensure that the Princess Alexandra Hospital is treated a priority case 

for investment to address its current physical infrastructure 
challenges.   

 
b) Support the hospital Trust in working with other public sector and 

private sector bodies to develop a business case for the investment 
necessary to achieve a new hospital as part of a health and wellbeing 
campus. 

 
c) To instruct NHS England and NHS Improvement to work positively 

with the health economy and with the Councils of West Essex and 
East Hertfordshire to deliver a plan to secure financially sustainable, 
appropriate and sufficient access to health services for the 
communities served by PAH and the West Essex CCG. 

 

5



The motion was carried. 
 

54. REFERENCES FROM CABINET AND COMMITTEES  

 
Proposed by Councillor Jon Clempner and seconded by Councillor Mike 
Danvers.  
 

RESOLVED that the recommendations on items a) and b) are 
approved. 

 
a) Referral from Cabinet - Annual Treasury Management Report 2016/17 

 
b) Referral from Cabinet - Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 

 
55. REPORTS FROM OFFICERS  

 
a) Interim Governance Arrangements 

 
Proposed by Councillor Jon Clempner and seconded by Councillor Waida 
Forman.  
 
 RESOLVED that: 
 

A Brian Keane, Head of Governance is designated Returning 
Officer, and Electoral Registration Officer, and that Jane Greer, 
Head of Community Wellbeing, is designated Monitoring Officer 
until a permanent Managing Director is in post. 
 

B The Head of Governance is appointed in acting up capacity to the 
role of Acting Managing Director until the permanent position is 
filled. 

 
b) Nomination to Vacant Positions on Committees 

 
Proposed by Councillor Jon Clempner and seconded by Waida Forman. 
 
 RESOLVED that Councillor Tony Edwards is nominated to stand on 

the following committees following his election. Scrutiny Committee, 
Call-in Sub-Committee, Cabinet Overview Working Group, and as a 
substitute on the Development Management Committee. 

 
56. MINUTES OF CABINET AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS  

 
 RESOLVED that the minutes of the following meetings are noted.  
 

a) Minutes of meeting Wednesday, 6 September 2017 of Audit & 
Standards Committee 
 

b) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 12 September 2017 of Licensing 
Committee 

6



c) Minutes of meeting Thursday, 14 September 2017 of Cabinet 
 

d) Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 3 October 2017 of Development 
Management Committee 
 

e) Minutes of meeting Thursday, 12 October 2017 of Cabinet 
 

57. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  

 
None. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR OF THE COUNCIL 

 

7



 
 

 
Agenda item 7 refers 
 
1. Mr Mick Patrick, Hull Grove, to Councillor Mark Wilkinson, Portfolio 

Holder for Housing. 
 

Harlow Council already has a backlog of repairs deficit set by Government of 
around £109 million over a 30 year business plan and a 1per cent rent 
reduction for four years. 
 
Due to advice from the Government as a result of the tragic fire disaster at 
Grenfell, why are the additional works on fire safety to heating at Willowfield, 
Nichols,Moor, Edmonds and Stort Towers, at a cost of £1.8million and works 
at Spring Hills tower at £2.8million, being paid for from Harlow’s HRA, as after 
the disaster, Teresa May promised funding from Government. 
 
 
Response from Councillor Mark Wilkinson, Portfolio Holder for Housing.  
 
The tragic Grenfell Tower fire in North Kensington on 14 June 2017 has 
focussed national attention on fire safety and regulation in tower blocks.  
Whilst the Council’s Tower Blocks are considered inherently safe, a national 
Public Inquiry has commenced which will consider the cause of the fire; tower 
block design, construction; and, the scope/adequacy of the relevant 
regulations relating to high-rise buildings.  An initial report is expected around 
Easter 2018. 
 
A review of Harlow Council’s fire risk assessments confirms that all are fit for 
purpose. However, the Council has taken the opportunity to review its fire 
safety short, medium and long term priorities aligning to other asset 
management priorities.  Following clarification and written communication 
received from the Government, the funding of these works is expected to 
come from landlords themselves.  It is the government’s expectation that 
building owners will fund measures designed to make a building fire safe, and 
will draw on existing resources to do so which will impact on current priorities 
and resource allocations as well as future projects. 

 
2. Mr Mick Patrick, to Councillor Mark Wilkinson, Portfolio Holder for 

Housing. 
 
 
Reduction in benefits to non-working families and a reduction in Essex 
County Council Support may have an adverse effect on tenants to pay rent. 
Also, the Governments Homeless Reduction Bill will have extra costs to 
Council. 
 

 
COUNCIL – 2 November2017 

QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 

Minute Item 51

8



 
 

What measures is the Council taking to help  reduce this effect and what are 
the additional costs to Council? 
 
Response from Councillor Mark Wilkinson, Portfolio Holder for Housing. 
 
Recent information has identified that rent arrears among tenants receiving 
universal credit are running at three, four, or even five times previous levels. 
 
The Council continues to support affected tenants in a pro-active way by 
working jointly with Support Agencies and the Department of Work and 
Pensions (DWP) to support clients through Drop-Ins and Benefit Cap Support 
Days held at the Jobcentre in Harlow.  In addition, a new arrangement with 
the Citizen’s Advice bureau has been established to provide money advice 
where required. In addition, concerns from landlords have been handed to the 
parliamentary inquiry investigating the programme. 
 
The funding of supported housing funding from Essex County Council ended 
in April 2017.  Scrutiny Committee, as part of its review, has assessed the 
potential impact of this cessation and have recommended to Cabinet users in 
receipt of this service either stop or pay a service charge.  These charges, 
where adopted, were passed onto service users/tenants on a phased basis of 
two years for dispersed alarm users and three years for sheltered housing 
tenants.  Whilst some users have stopped using the service, a number have 
continued to request the support service.  Tenants have been supported 
through the implementation of this change with personal visits from a 
Supported Housing Officer to ensure maximisation of income through benefit 
entitlement and where appropriate tenants have been referred to charitable 
organisations e.g. Royal British Legion for ex-servicemen who will support its 
members. 
 
The Homeless Reduction Act seeks to place more duties on Local Authorities 
to take steps to prevent families and single people becoming homeless.  The 
key element is to intervene to prevent homelessness at an earlier stage as a 
statutory requirement.  The new provision will have potential financial 
implications for the Local Authority which is still to be costed, awaiting 
guidance from the Government.  The guidance is expected to include 
implications for information technology, the use of temporary accommodation 
costs, enhanced legal processes, and likely to indicate an increase in 
homeless approaches.  The Government is intending to provide Local 
Authorities with additional funding for the proposed implementation of the 
Homeless Reduction Act.  The Council, in preparation for the Act’s 
implementation in April 2018, are also reviewing their approach to prevention 
and to overhaul existing working processes, alongside introducing new 
policies and procedures, increasing staff establishment costs and improving 
information technology.  The Council is not certain that the extra funding from 

9



 
 

Government will cover the additional strain on the Council, in particular the 
increase in numbers and costs of temporary accommodation required. 

 
3. Mr J Rogers, Bishopsfield, to Councillor Jon Clempner, Leader of the 

Council. 
 

The recent Grenfell Tower block fire tragedy highlighted the necessary safety 
features pertinent to living in high rise buildings and to the relevant bodies 
legally responsible for overseeing the enactment of the safety measures and 
regulations. However, high rise blocks previously used solely for offices, but 
which have been entirely converted to residential accommodation are exempt 
from these regulations.  
 
Apparently this can be achieved without gaining planning consent from of the 
local planning authority, and a ‘Risk Assessment’ can be completed by the 
property owner without reporting to either the planning authority or the Fire 
Authority Service.  
 
In this respect do Joseph Rank House, Redstone House, and Terminus 
House reach the same fire compliance regulations as the other Harlow high 
rise blocks, subject to the same fire inspections, constructed to resist fire 
spread or explosion, have smoke/fire alarms installed, stairways designed to 
be safe escape/evacuation routes from the buildings, and are dry or wet risers 
or sprinklers installed?  
 
Have the owners briefed the Council in anyway about these issues? 
 
Lastly has/was the redevelopment of these buildings taken into account in the 
Essex Fire Authority consultations that have resulted in the withdrawal 
from Harlow Fire Station of the Aerial Ladder Platform?. 
 
 
Response from Councillor Jon Clempner, Leader of the Council. 
 
Changes to the General Permitted Development Order made in 2013 initially 
for a three year period were made permanent in April 2016 and mean that 
Planning Permission is not now required for conversion to housing of a 
building that has previously been used as office accommodation. 
 
Building Regulations Approval is required when offices are converted to flats 
as this is deemed a “material change of use” under the Regulations. However 
the developer need not approach the Council for approval as approval can be 
given by an Approved Inspector operating in the private sector. 
 
The person or organisation managing such a building is responsible 
themselves under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 for making 

10



 
 

a Fire Safety Risk Assessment: for the common parts of the building, 
identifying hazards and safety measures to be taken, managing identified 
risks, and implementing remedial measures. Fire and Rescue Services are 
responsible for enforcement of the requirements. 
 
The use of Joseph Rank House was changed some time ago before changes 
to Planning law. The owners obtained Planning Permission from the Council 
and applied to the Council for Building Regulations approval. The Council is 
satisfied that the changes complied with the Building Regulations 
requirements in force at the time. 
 
Planning Permission was not required for the conversion of Redstone House 
and Terminus House to residential accommodation, and Building Regulations 
Approval was sought from Approved Inspectors and not the Council. 
 
Terminus House is currently undergoing conversion. 
 
Officers have consulted Essex County Fire and Rescue Service with regard to 
current compliance with the requirements of the Fire Safety Order in all three 
buildings and on any influence their conversion has had on the decision 
regarding the location of an Aerial Ladder Platform at Harlow Fire Station. 
 
I am advised that all three buildings named will be subject to exactly the same 
fire inspections as those owned for example by the Council.Each went 
through, or is going through, the Building Regulations process and was 
converted in line with the Building Regulations, which means that they would 
have the same provisions in place as purpose built flats. 
 
Fire Safety Officers from Essex County Fire & Rescue Service have recently 
inspected the common parts of two of the three buildings, in line with the 
Service’s inspection programme under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order 2005, and letters of compliance have been sent to the Responsible 
Persons.  
 
The remaining building is still undergoing the conversion. 
 
The question regarding the Aerial Ladder Platform has been directed to the 
Station Commander for Harlow Fire Station for a response and I will provide 
an updated reply when this response has been received. 

 
4. Ms E Harvey, Churchgate Street, to Councillor Mike Danvers, Portfolio 

Holder for Resources.. 
 

A global climate crisis is underway, with extreme weather and rising sea 
levels threatening the lives of millions of people around the world.  
 

11



 
 

Essex County Council’s pension fund, into which Harlow Council staff 
contribute and on which they will rely in their retirement, holds around £24 
million worth of direct investments in fossil fuels and around £200 million of 
indirect investments. These investments are bad for the planet and they’re 
risky for your staff – Mark Carney the Governor of the Bank of England has 
warned that investors relying on returns from fossil fuel investments face 
huge climate change losses.  
 
Will Harlow Council use its influence on the County Council’s Pension Fund to 
secure a public commitment to a gradual 5 year divestment of fossil fuels in 
its Investment Strategy Statement? We know it is possible because Waltham 
Forest and Southwark made this commitment last year 
 
Response from Councillor Mike Danvers, Portfolio Holder for 
Resources.. 
 
Yes I am quite prepared to ask Essex County Council to do this. There is a 
problem with pension funds generally. It is driven by an outdated ideology of 
infinite growth. 
 
The Essex Pension Fund consults upon its Investment Strategy Statement 
and the most recent consultation closed in June 2017. 
 
Set out in the statement is the following –  
 
“The fundamental responsibility of the Fund is to ensure that it has adequate 
monies available to pay pensions as they fall due. This objective must be 
achieved in a cost effective way for members, employers and the taxpayer. 
Moreover, in reaching decisions, the Fund must comply with its fiduciary 
responsibilities.” 
 
Under the Governance arrangements of the fund the Investment Steering 
Committee (ISC) does not place restrictions on investment managers 
appointed by and working on behalf of the fund in choosing investments in 
quoted companies except in limiting the size of single investments. 
 
I know from first-hand experience of trying to get ECC pension fund members 
to change their outdated policies about investment. With my colleague Karen 
Clempner we tried to persuade the pension fund to look at the advantages of 
ethical investment. We were turned down flat.  
 
Pension funds could do so much more to make a positive contribution to 
society without putting their investments at risk. So yes I am quite prepared to 
urge the course of action suggested and thank you for your question. 
 
 

12



 
 

 
  

13



 
 

 
Agenda item 8 refers 
 
1. Councillor Joel Charles, to Councillor Jon Clempner,Leader of the 

Council. 

 
How many times in the last financial year did Harlow Council use its houses in 
multiple occupation enforcement powers? 
 
Response from Councillor Jon Clempner, Leader of the Council. 
 

In accord with the principles of the Regulator’s Code to which the Council 
must have regard, the Council has a progressive and proportionate approach 
to its regulatory functions which range from inspecting regulated premises 
and telling landlords what measures are required to achieve appropriate 
standards, to prosecution for specific offences. 
 
In the financial year ending 31st March 2017 the Council’s exercise of its 
enforcement powers under the Housing Act 2004 regarding Houses in 
Multiple Occupation included the following activity: 
 
 
• Full Inspections conducted: 29 
 
• Schedules of works issued: 29 
 
• Financial penalties imposed: 19 
 
• Prosecutions commenced: 1 
 

2. Councillor Joel Charles, to Councillor Jon Clempner, Leader of the 
Council. 

  
The Town Centre dispersal order was put in place on the 30 September 2017. 
Can Harlow Council confirm how many times the dispersal order has been 
used to deal with individuals committing an act of antisocial-behaviour in the 
Town Centre since it was put in place? 
 
 
Response from Councillor Jon Clempner, Leader of the Council. 
 

The dispersal order on the 30 September 2017 was authorised by Insp Tony 
Walker, the dispersal order was from 2200hrs on the 30 September until 
0600hrs on the 1October 2017 a total of eight hours 
 

 
COUNCIL – 02 November 2017 

QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS 
 

Minute Item 52

14



 
 

The Town centre in its entirety was covered and Essex Police provided 
officers to police the dispersal order throughout this period.  
 
This dispersal order was used as a tactic to deal positively with reported 
incidents of anti-social behaviour at the beginning of the current 12 week 
plan.  The 12 week plan as you are aware is to intensely police a defined area 
working with partners to deal with ASB and associated issues and  problems.   
 
Whilst the dispersal order was in place no persons were required to leave the 
area and therefore no notices were issued or arrests made. 
 
The power is a flexible power that can be used by the police in a range of 
situations to disperse anti-social individuals and provide immediate short term 
respite to the local community.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

15



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 21 NOVEMBER 2017 
 

TITLE: DESIGNATION OF LICENSED VEHICLES 
UNDER THE EQUALITY ACT 2010 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  DAVID TAYLOR PRINCIPAL EHO 
(LICENSING) (01279) 446164 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Licensing Committee recommends to Full Council the adoption of 

powers in the Equality Act 2010 to designate licensed vehicles which are 
capable of carrying a passenger when seated in a reference wheelchair.   
 

B The Licensing team explore with stakeholders the issues surrounding 
provision in the licensed fleet of vehicles specifically adapted to carry as wide 
a range of wheelchairs as is practicable, and present a further report to a 
future meeting of the Licensing Committee.   
 

BACKGROUND 
 
1.  On 6 April 2017 the government commenced Sections 165, 166 and 167 of the 

Equality Act 2010.  These provisions provide local authorities with the power to 
create lists of Private Hire and Hackney Carriage vehicles capable of 
transporting a person while seated in a wheelchair.  
 

2.  The Department of Transport has issued detailed guidance for local authorities 
entitled ‘Access for Wheelchair users to Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles, 
Statutory Guidance, Moving Britain Ahead.  The government wants to 
ensure that passengers in wheelchairs are better informed about the 
accessibility of the taxi and private hire fleet in their area, can be confident of 
receiving the assistance they need to travel safely and will not be not charged 
more than a non-wheelchair user for the same journey.  The guidance sets out 
how the new provisions may be implemented.  The provisions are not 
mandatory and each local authority may choose whether or not it wishes to 
create lists of wheelchair accessible vehicles but there is a clear expectation 
that local authorities should adopt the provisions.  The guidance is attached at 
Appendix A. 
 

3.  Vehicles placed on the list will be known as ‘designated vehicles’.   With 
regard to designated vehicles, wheelchair users would have additional specific 

16

Agenda Item 9a



legal entitlements: drivers of designated vehicles may not refuse to transport a 
person in a wheelchair unless they would be unable to do so safely, or the 
driver has obtained an exemption certificate on medical grounds.  Each local 
authority must decide on the accessibility requirements to which a designated 
vehicle must conform.  There is in use a wide range of types and sizes of 
wheelchairs and few vehicles even among those adapted to carry passengers 
seated in wheelchair could accommodate every conceivable variation.  The 
guidance suggests that local authorities may wish to use when setting 
designation criteria the ‘reference wheelchair’ standard as defined by the Public 
Service Vehicles Accessibility Regulations 2000, illustrated below. 
 
 

Wheelchair Dimensions 

 

 
 
 

4.  Drivers of designated vehicles may be exempted on application where a 
medical condition disability means that the driver is not able to provide the 
physical assistance to wheelchair users that would be required.   
 

5.  Vehicle owners may appeal against the decision of the local authority to include 
their vehicles on a designated list in accordance with Section 172 of the Act.  
 

6.  The current fleet of private hire vehicles licensed by the Council includes no 
vehicles specifically adapted to carry passengers seated in a wheelchair.  All 
are reasonably capable of transporting customers who can side transfer into 
the vehicle, using a wheelchair that can be transported in the boot.  Such 
vehicles would not be placed on a list of designated vehicles should the 
Council adopt the power to designate.  Private hire operators and proprietors 
may choose in the future to licence a suitably adapted private hire vehicle to 
meet the needs of persons in wheelchairs.  If these met Council designation 
criteria they would then be included on the designated vehicle list.   

17

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/1970/images/uksi_20001970_en_001


7.  Hackney Carriage vehicles that meet the Council’s licensing standards were 
designed in principle to be wheelchair-accessible.  The licensed fleet 
comprises of vehicles from different manufacturers but is typified by older 
London Taxi TX1 vehicles which are purpose-designed vehicles suitable for 
operation in metropolitan districts.  They benefit from having a fitted ramp and 
folding seat arrangement to allow a wheelchair to be manoeuvred inside the 
vehicle.  There are limitations on the size and gross weight of wheelchairs that 
may be accommodated and therefore these vehicles will serve the needs of 
many, but not necessarily all wheelchair-seated customers.  In Harlow it is 
likely that older TX1 vehicles will gradually be replaced with TX4 vehicles which 
are of similar design.  The latest generation of London Taxis (TX5) are likely to 
serve the needs of persons in larger wheelchairs better, but these are not 
available second hand and new vehicles cost in excess of £50,000.00. 
   

8.  Wheelchair passengers must be transported safely and in accordance with the 
vehicle manufacturers’ instructions, which require that the wheelchair and 
person be restrained. 
 
Manufacturers of Hackney Carriage vehicles advise that customers in 
wheelchairs be wheeled inside the vehicle and then manoeuvred into a rear 
facing position against the bulkhead partition.  The customer and wheelchair 
should then be restrained using an extended seatbelt for the passenger and 
straps for the wheelchair.  It is suggested that if it were an option, forward 
facing travel would be preferred by many wheelchair users.   
 
Specifically adapted car and van-based vehicles with either a ramp or tail-lift 
arrangement to allow the wheelchair to be loaded and then secured to tracks or 
anchorage points in the floor may be licensed as private hire vehicles, or as 
Hackney Carriage vehicles in areas where the Hackney Carriage vehicle 
specification permits this.  Customers routinely face forwards during the 
journey.  Vehicles may be adapted to take one or more wheelchairs and some 
vehicles are designed to be flexible to accommodate seats or wheelchairs. 
Such specifically adapted vehicles are likely to meet the needs of a wider range 
of wheelchair users than traditional Hackney Carriages.  No such vehicles have 
yet been brought forward for licensing as private hire vehicles in Harlow.  Such 
vehicles would not meet current Hackney Carriage vehicle specifications in 
Harlow. 
  

9.  The nature of the current fleet of Hackney Carriages and private hire vehicles 
in Harlow means that users of reference wheel chairs are reasonably well 
catered for.  They can be carried by all the Hackney Carriages they might 
encounter at a rank, unless the driver has a medical exemption, and some 
Hackney Carriage operators offer a telephone booking service.  However the 
specific duty to carry wheelchair users at no extra cost does not currently apply 
in any case, as no vehicles are designated; and some members of the 
community who have wheelchairs that do not meet the reference standard are 

18



not catered for by Harlow-licensed vehicles. 
 

10.  To provide better access and service provision for wheelchair users, some 
licensing authorities, typically those without a large fleet of London style 
Hackney Carriages, have attached conditions to operator licenses which 
require operators to arrange for a proportion of licensed vehicles which are 
wheelchair accessible.  
 

OPTIONS 

11.  A number of options available to the Council are set out below with the 
principle advantages and disadvantages of each course of action. 
 

Option Advantages Disadvantages 

   

Do nothing It may be possible to 
learn from the 
experience of other 
authorities 

Wheelchair users will 
not benefit from the 
extra protection outlined 
at paragraph 3. above.  
The Council may be 
criticised by government 
or interest groups in the 
community. 

Designate vehicles 
capable of carrying 
reference wheelchairs 

Hackney Carriages will 
be designated; 
reference wheelchair 
users will be confident 
that they can be helped 
and carried in Hackney 
Carriages at ranks and 
can make bookings with 
operators. 
 
Any specifically adapted 
private hire vehicle 
brought forward for 
licensing would also 
become designated. 

Limited incentive to 
improve the service 
offer to users of non-
reference wheelchairs. 
 

Designate only vehicles 
that are specifically 
adapted for a wide 
range of wheelchairs 

Wheelchair users will be 
confident that they will 
be carried by any 
designated vehicle at no 
extra cost. 

No vehicles in the 
Harlow licensed fleet 
currently meet this 
standard. Wheelchair 
users would not benefit 
from the extra 
protection outlined at 
paragraph 3. above. 

 

19



PROPOSALS 

12.  In view of the guidance and the matters set out above, it is proposed that the 
Council determine to adopt the power to designate vehicles that are capable of 
carrying a wheelchair user in a reference wheelchair. This will afford the extra 
protection outlined at paragraph 3. above to reference wheelchair users.  
 

13.  It is proposed that the licensing team explore with stakeholders the issues 
surrounding ensuring provision of some specifically adapted vehicles which 
might better cater for users of non-reference wheelchairs in the licensed fleet 
by amending licensing conditions. 
 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 

As set out in the report. 

Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

 

Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific. 

Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  

 
Housing 

None specific.  

Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 

The proposal to explore the inclusion of specially adapted vehicles in the licensed 
fleet is welcome.  Extending to users of reference wheelchairs the protection 
offered by the Equality Act 2010 by designation of those licensed vehicles 
capable of carrying them safely will be of benefit in the meantime. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 

 
Governance (includes HR) 
The Council recognises the equality duties under Section 165 – 167 of 
the Equality Act 2010 and therefore by adopting these discretionary provisions, 
the Council will have regard to this duty.  Undertaking further work with regard to 
users of non-reference wheel chairs will continue the promotion of the inclusion of 
all residents within the district of Harlow. 
Author: Dimple Roopchand Assistant Solicitor for Brian Keane, Acting 
Managing Director 
 

 

 

20



21



22

file:///C:/Data/WORD97/TEMPLATE/DFT/www.gov.uk/dft
https://forms.dft.gov.uk/
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk


 

3 

Contents 

Ministerial Foreword 4 

1. Introduction 5 

Status of guidance 5 

2. Putting the law into practice 6 

Background 6 

Transitionary arrangements 6 

3. Vehicles 8 

Overview 8 

Vehicles that can be designated 8 

Preparing and publishing lists of designated vehicles 9 

Appeals 9 

4. Drivers 10 

Driver responsibilities 10 

Applying for and issuing exemptions 11 

Demonstrating exemptions 12 

Appeals 12 

5. Enforcement 13 

Licensing measures and prosecution 13 
 
 

23



 

4 

Ministerial Foreword 

 

This Government is committed to ensuring that transport works for everyone, 
including disabled people. Since joining the Department for Transport in 2015, and 
taking on Ministerial responsibility for transport accessibility, I have made it my 
mission to challenge the status quo and encourage innovative thinking to improve 
access to transport across the modes. 

I know however, that despite the real improvements which have taken place in recent 
years, some disabled passengers still face discrimination when attempting to travel. I 
am clear that this is unacceptable. 

Owners of assistance dogs are already protected by provisions in the Equality Act 
2010 which make it unlawful to refuse or charge them extra. I want similar protections 
to apply to wheelchair users, which is why I am delighted that we have commenced 
the remaining parts of sections 165 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010, making it a 
criminal offence for drivers of designated taxi and private hire vehicles to refuse to 
carry passengers in wheelchairs, to fail to provide them with appropriate assistance, 
or to charge them extra. I hope that in so doing we will send a clear signal to the 
minority of drivers who think it acceptable to discriminate on grounds of disability that 
such behaviour will not be tolerated – and, more importantly, to enable wheelchair 
users to travel with confidence. 

 

 
 
Andrew Jones MP,  
Parliamentary Under Secretary of State, Department for Transport  

24



 

5 

1. Introduction 

Status of guidance 

1.1 This guidance document has been issued in order to assist local licensing authorities 
(LAs) in the implementation of legal provisions intended to assist passengers in 
wheelchairs in their use of designated taxi and private hire vehicle (PHV) services. It 
provides advice on designating vehicles as being wheelchair accessible so that the 
new protections can apply, communicating with drivers regarding their new 
responsibilities and handling requests from drivers for exemptions from the 
requirements. 

1.2 This is a statutory guidance document, issued under section 167(6) of the Equality 
Act 2010 and constitutes the Secretary of State’s formal guidance to LAs in England, 
Wales and Scotland on the application of sections 165 to 167 of the Equality Act 
2010. LAs must have regard to this guidance document. 

25



 

6 

2. Putting the law into practice 

Background 

2.1 We have commenced sections 165 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010 (“the Act”), in so 
far as they were not already in force. Section 167 of the Act provides LAs with the 
powers to make lists of wheelchair accessible vehicles (i.e. “designated vehicles”), 
and section 165 of the Act then requires the drivers of those vehicles to carry 
passengers in wheelchairs, provide assistance to those passengers and prohibits 
them from charging extra.  

2.2 The requirements of section 165 do not apply to drivers who have a valid exemption 
certificate and are displaying a valid exemption notice in the prescribed manner. An 
exemption certificate can be issued under section 166 of the Act, which is already in 
force. This allows LAs to exempt drivers from the duties under section 165 where it is 
appropriate to do so, on medical grounds or because the driver’s physical condition 
makes it impossible or unreasonably difficult for them to comply with those duties.   

2.3 On 15th September 2010, the Department for Transport issued guidance on the Act 
which stated, in relation to section 167, “although the list of designated vehicles will 
have no actual effect in law until the duties are commenced, we would urge licensing 
authorities to start maintaining a list as soon as possible for the purpose of liaising 
with the trade and issuing exemption certificates”. 

2.4 We therefore recognise that may LAs have already implemented some of these 
provisions, including publishing lists of wheelchair accessible vehicles and exempting 
drivers. Therefore, there are likely to be a range of approaches being used in practice 
by LAs across England, Wales and Scotland.  

Transitionary arrangements  

2.5 We want to ensure that the commencement of sections 165 and 167 of the Act has a 
positive impact for passengers in wheelchairs, ensures they are better informed 
about the accessibility of designated taxis and PHVs in their area, and confident of 
receiving the assistance they need to travel safely. 

2.6 But we recognise that LAs will need time to put in place the necessary procedures to 
exempt drivers with certain medical conditions from providing assistance where there 
is good reason to do so, and to make drivers aware of these new requirements. In 
addition, LAs will need to ensure that their new procedures comply with this 
guidance, and that exemption notices are issued in accordance with Government 
regulations. This will ensure that we get a consistent approach and the best 
outcomes for passengers in wheelchairs. 

2.7 As such, we would encourage LAs to put in place sensible and manageable 
transition procedures to ensure smooth and effective implementation of this new law. 
LAs should only publish lists of wheelchair accessible vehicles for the purposes of 

26

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents


 

7 

section 165 of the Act when they are confident that those procedures have been put 
in place, drivers and owners notified of the new requirements and given time to apply 
for exemptions where appropriate. We would expect these arrangements to take no 
more than a maximum of six months to put in place, following the commencement of 
these provisions, but this will of course be dependent on individual circumstances. 

2.8 A flowchart setting out the sorts of processes that a LA could follow is set out below. 
This is an indicative illustration, and it will be down to each LA to determine the 
actions they need to take to ensure this new law is implemented effectively in their 
area. 
 

 

 
  

Licensing Authorities review this 
guidance document and compare 

against any existing policies 

Licensing Authorities prepare draft lists 
of designated wheelchair accessible 

vehicles 

Licensing Authorities set out policies 
for exempting drivers on medical and 

physical condition grounds 

Licensing Authorities inform owners that 
their vehicles will be placed on the list 

and alert drivers to their upcoming duties 

Drivers apply for exemptions where 
necessary  

Licensing authority issues exemptions 

Licensing authority publishes list of 
designated wheelchair accessible vehicles 

and duties on drivers take effect 

27



 

8 

3. Vehicles 

Overview 

3.1 Section 167 of the Act permits, but does not require, LAs to maintain a designated list 
of wheelchair accessible taxis and PHVs.  

3.2 Whilst LAs are under no specific legal obligation to maintain a list under section 167, 
the Government recommends strongly that they do so. Without such a list the 
requirements of section 165 of the Act do not apply, and drivers may continue to 
refuse the carriage of wheelchair users, fail to provide them with assistance, or to 
charge them extra.  

Vehicles that can be designated 

3.3 We want to ensure that passengers in wheelchairs are better informed about the 
accessibility of the taxi and PHV fleet in their area, confident of receiving the 
assistance they need to travel safely, and not charged more than a non-wheelchair 
user for the same journey.   

3.4 The Act states that a vehicle can be included on a licensing authority’s list of 
designated vehicles if it conforms to such accessibility requirements as the licensing 
authority thinks fit. However, it also goes on to explain that vehicles placed on the 
designated list should be able to carry passengers in their wheelchairs should they 
prefer. 

3.5 This means that to be placed on a licensing authority’s list a vehicle must be capable 
of carrying some – but not necessarily all – types of occupied wheelchairs. The 
Government therefore recommends that a vehicle should only be included in the 
authority’s list if it would be possible for the user of a “reference wheelchair”1 to enter, 
leave and travel in the passenger compartment in safety and reasonable comfort 
whilst seated in their wheelchair.   

3.6 Taking this approach allows the provisions of section 165 of the Act apply to a wider 
range of vehicles and more drivers than if LAs only included on the list vehicles 
capable of taking a larger type of wheelchair. 

3.7 The Government recognises that this approach will mean that some types of 
wheelchair, particularly some powered wheelchairs, may be unable to access some 
of the vehicles included in the LA’s list. The Act recognises this possibility, and 
section 165(9) provides a defence for the driver if it would not have been possible for 
the wheelchair to be carried safely in the vehicle. Paragraph 3.10 of this guidance 
below aims to ensure that users of larger wheelchairs have sufficient information 
about the vehicles that will be available to them to make informed choices about their 
journeys. 

                                            
1 As defined in Schedule 1 of the Public Service Vehicle Accessibility Regulations 2000 

28

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/1970/contents/made


 

9 

Preparing and publishing lists of designated vehicles 

3.8 We want to ensure that passengers in wheelchairs have the information they need to 
make informed travel choices, and also that drivers and vehicle owners are clear 
about the duties and responsibilities placed on them. 

3.9 Before drivers can be subject to the duties under section 165 of the Act, the LA must 
first publish their list of designated vehicles, and clearly mark it as ‘designated for the 
purposes of section 165 of the Act’. 

3.10 LAs should ensure that their designated lists are made easily available to 
passengers, and that vehicle owners and drivers are made aware. Lists should set 
out the details of the make and model of the vehicle, together with specifying whether 
the vehicle is a taxi or private hire vehicle, and stating the name of operator. Where 
possible it would also be helpful to include information about the size and weight of 
wheelchair that can be accommodated, and whether wheelchairs that are larger than 
a “reference wheelchair” can be accommodated. 

3.11 However, we recognise that some passengers in wheelchairs may prefer to transfer 
from their wheelchair into the vehicle and stow their wheelchair in the boot. Although 
the legal requirement for drivers to provide assistance does not extend to the drivers 
of vehicles that cannot accommodate a passenger seated in their wheelchair, we 
want to ensure that these passengers are provided with as much information as 
possible about the accessibility of the taxi and PHV fleet in their area. 

3.12 We would therefore recommend that LAs also publish a list of vehicles that are 
accessible to passengers in wheelchairs who are able to transfer from their 
wheelchair into a seat within the vehicle. It should be made clear however that this 
list of vehicles has not been published for the purposes of section 165 of the Act and 
drivers of those vehicles are therefore not subject to the legal duties to provide 
assistance.  Authorities may however wish to use existing licensing powers to require 
such drivers to provide assistance, and impose licensing sanctions where this does 
not occur. 

Appeals 

3.13 Section 172 of the Act enables vehicle owners to appeal against the decision of a LA 
to include their vehicles on the designated list. That appeal should be made to the 
Magistrate’s Court, or in Scotland the sheriff, and must be made within 28 days of the 
vehicle in question being included on the LA’s published list. 

29



 

10 

4. Drivers 

Driver responsibilities 

4.1 Section 165 of the Act sets out the duties placed on drivers of designated wheelchair 
accessible taxis and PHVs. 

4.2 The duties are: 

 to carry the passenger while in the wheelchair; 

 not to make any additional charge for doing so; 

 if the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat to carry the wheelchair; 

 to take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is carried in 
safety and reasonable comfort; and 

 to give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required. 
4.3 The Act then goes on to define mobility assistance as assistance: 

 To enable the passenger to get into or out of the vehicle; 

 If the passenger wishes to remain in the wheelchair, to enable the passenger to 
get into and out of the vehicle while in the wheelchair; 

 To load the passenger’s luggage into or out of the vehicle; 

 If the passenger does not wish to remain in the wheelchair, to load the wheelchair 
into or out of the vehicle. 

4.4 Once the duties are commenced, it will be an offence for the driver (unless exempt) 
of a taxi or PHV which is on the licensing authority’s designated list to fail to comply 
with them. We encourage LAs to provide drivers of taxis and PHVs who are not 
exempt from the duties with clear guidance on their duties with respect to the 
carriage of passengers in wheelchairs, either as part of existing driver-facing 
guidance, or as supplementary communication. The Disabled Persons Transport 
Advisory Committee’s Disability Equality and Awareness Training Framework for 
Transport Staff2 may provide a useful resource. 

4.5 Although each situation will be different, we take the view that reasonable mobility 
assistance will be subject to other applicable law, including health and safety 
legislation. However, we would always expect drivers to provide assistance such as 
folding manual wheelchairs and placing them in the luggage compartment, installing 
the boarding ramp, or securing a wheelchair within the passenger compartment. 

4.6 Depending on the weight of the wheelchair and the capability of the driver, 
reasonable mobility assistance could also include pushing a manual wheelchair or 

                                            
2 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20080804135759/http:/www.dptac.gov.uk/education/stafftraining/p
df/trainingframework-nontabular.pdf 

30

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20080804135759/http:/www.dptac.gov.uk/education/stafftraining/pdf/trainingframework-nontabular.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20080804135759/http:/www.dptac.gov.uk/education/stafftraining/pdf/trainingframework-nontabular.pdf


 

11 

light electric wheelchair up a ramp, or stowing a light electric wheelchair in the 
luggage compartment. 

4.7 It is our view that the requirement not to charge a wheelchair user extra means that, 
in practice, a meter should not be left running whilst the driver performs duties 
required by the Act, or the passenger enters, leaves or secures their wheelchair 
within the passenger compartment. We recommend that licensing authority rules for 
drivers are updated to make clear when a meter can and cannot be left running. 

Applying for and issuing exemptions 

4.8 Some drivers may have a medical condition or a disability or physical condition which 
makes it impossible or unreasonably difficult for them to provide the sort of physical 
assistance which these duties require. That is why the Act allows LAs to grant 
exemptions from the duties to individual drivers. These provisions are contained in 
section 166, and were commenced on 1st October 2010. 

4.9 Section 166 allows LAs to exempt drivers from the duties to assist passengers in 
wheelchairs if they are satisfied that it is appropriate to do so on medical or physical 
grounds. The exemption can be valid for as short or long a time period as the LA 
thinks appropriate, bearing in mind the nature of the medical issue. If exempt, the 
driver will not be required to perform any of the duties. Since October 2010, taxi and 
PHV drivers who drive wheelchair accessible taxis or PHVs have therefore been able 
to apply for exemptions. If they do not do so already, LAs should put in place a 
system for assessing drivers and a system for granting exemption certificates for 
those drivers who they consider should be exempt.  

4.10 We suggest that authorities produce application forms which can be submitted by 
applicants along with evidence supporting their claim. We understand that some 
licensing authorities have already put in place procedures for accessing and 
exempting drivers, and as an absolute minimum, we think that the evidence provided 
should be in the form of a letter or report from a general practitioner.  

4.11 However, the Government’s view is that decisions on exemptions will be fairer and 
more objective if medical assessments are undertaken by professionals who have 
been specifically trained and who are independent of the applicant. We would 
recommend that independent medical assessors are used where a long-term 
exemption is to be issued, and that LAs use assessors who hold appropriate 
professional qualifications and who are not open to bias because of a personal or 
commercial connection to the applicant. LAs may already have arrangements with 
such assessors, for example in relation to the Blue Badge Scheme.  

4.12 If the exemption application is successful then the LA should issue an exemption 
certificate and provide an exemption notice for the driver to display in their vehicle. 
As section 166 has been in force since 2010, many LAs will already have processes 
in place for issuing exemption certificates, and as such we do not intend to prescribe 
the form that those certificates should take. We are however keen to ensure that 
passengers in wheelchairs are able to clearly discern whether or not a driver has 
been exempted from the duties to provide assistance, and as such will prescribe the 
form of and manner of exhibiting a notice of exemption.  

4.13 If the exemption application is unsuccessful we recommend that the applicant is 
informed in writing within a reasonable timescale and with a clear explanation of the 
reasons for the decision. 

31



 

12 

Demonstrating exemptions 

4.14 In addition to the exemption certificate, exempt drivers need to be issued with a 
notice of exemption for display in their vehicle.  

4.15 The Department will soon make regulations which will prescribe the form of and 
manner of exhibiting a notice of exemption. Where a driver has been exempted from 
the duties under section 165 of the Act, they must display an exemption notice in the 
vehicle they are driving in the form and manner prescribed by the regulations. If the 
notice is not displayed then the driver could be prosecuted if they do not comply with 
the duties under section 165 of the Act. 

4.16 The Department aims to distribute copies of the notice of exemption to LAs, but they 
are of course free to produce their own in accordance with the regulations. 

4.17 Only one exemption notice should be displayed in a vehicle at any one time. 

Appeals 

4.18 Section 172 of the Act enables drivers to appeal against the decision of a LA not to 
issue an exemption certificate. That appeal should be made to the Magistrate’s 
Court, or a sheriff in Scotland, and must be made within 28 days beginning with the 
date of the refusal.  

4.19 LAs may choose to establish their own appeal process in addition to the statutory 
process but this would need to be undertaken rapidly in order to allow any formal 
appeal to the Magistrate’s Court to be made within the 28 day period.  

 

32



 

13 

5. Enforcement 

Licensing measures and prosecution 

5.1 It is important to note that a driver will be subject to the duties set out in section 165 
of the Equality Act 2010 if the vehicle they are driving appears on the designated list 
of the LA that licensed them, and the LA has not provided them with an exemption 
certificate, regardless of where the journey starts or ends.  

5.2 The Government expects LAs to take tough action where drivers breach their duties 
under section 165 of the Act.   

5.3 LAs have wide-ranging powers to determine the rules by which taxis and private hire 
vehicles within their respective areas may operate. We recommend that they use 
these powers to ensure that drivers who discriminate against disabled passengers 
are held accountable. 

5.4 If a driver receives a conviction for breaching their duties under section 165 of the 
Act, it would be appropriate for the authority to review whether or not they remained a 
fit and proper person to hold a taxi or PHV drivers’ licence. The Government’s 
presumption is that a driver who wilfully failed to comply with section 165 would be 
unlikely to remain a “fit and proper person”.  

5.5 Authorities might also apply conditions which enable them to investigate cases of 
alleged discrimination and take appropriate action, even where prosecution did not 
proceed. 

 

33



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 21 NOVEMBER 2017 
 

TITLE: HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE 
FEES AND CHARGES PROPOSALS 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER (01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  DAVID TAYLOR PRINCIPAL EHO 
(LICENSING) (01279) 446164 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A Licensing Committee recommends to Full Council the adoption, as part of the 

Council’s annual budget setting process, of the proposed revised Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire licensing fee structure set out in Appendix 1 to 
come into effect from 1 April 2018. 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
1.  Harlow Council charges for the grant of driver licences under Section 53(2) of 

the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 [LG(MP)A 1976] 
and for the grant of operator and vehicle licenses under Section 70 LG (MP) A 
1976. 
 

2.  Fees are reviewed annually.  Where fees for the grant of a licence are to 
exceed £25 the LG(MP)A 1976 requires that proposals be published in a 
newspaper circulating giving at least 28 days for representations.  The Council 
is obliged to consider representations. 
 

ISSUES 
 
3.  The Immigration Act 2016 now prohibits the grant of a driver or operator licence 

for a period longer than the applicant’s right to work in the UK. The Council 
may therefore be obliged to grant driver licenses for a period of less than one 
year.  There is currently no approved fee for a period of less than one year, so 
in such a case the driver would under current policy be required to pay a full 
year’s fee for a licence that did not last a full year.  This might be considered to 
be unfair. 
 

4.  Vehicle licenses are granted for a period of not more than one year and not 
beyond the expiry date of the current MoT.  It has been the Council’s practice 
when a proprietor has wished to change the vehicle licensed to offer a rebate 
on the cost of a new licence of 1/12th of the licence fee for each whole month 

34

Agenda Item 9b



remaining until the expiry of the old licence. This avoids financial penalty on 
proprietors who change vehicles mid-way through the licence. However: 
 

1. A small number of proprietors have changed their vehicles frequently; as 
many as six times in any one 12 month period at considerable expense 
in officer time, whilst the majority change vehicles infrequently, although 
both groups currently pay the same fees.  It would seem fairer to reduce 
the cost of issuing vehicle licences, whilst at the same time reducing the 
amount of rebate offered.   

 
2. The process of recovery of fees reflecting the Council’s costs should be 

transparent and fees should be readily assigned to individual licences 
for audit purposes. 

   
5.  All fees and charges are reviewed annually and may be revised to take account 

of cost of service delivery and inflationary pressures. 
   

6.  Obtaining individual Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) certificates involves 
a fee for applicants, which the Council passes on to DBS, and checking them is 
costly in officer time.  Where applicants subscribe to the online updating 
service provided by the DBS and permit the Council to check on line for any 
change in status, the processing time is significantly reduced.  Whilst there is a 
charge for the online service, it is less costly overall than obtaining successive 
DBS certificates.  The Council encourages use of the on line updating service 
for these reasons; differential charging in the Council’s charging policy would 
better reflect this.    
 

7.  Training may be required by licence condition.  Some applicants have made 
requests for individual training arrangements.  This is likely to be at additional 
cost to the Council and there is a case for recovering the cost. 
  

8.  A proposed revised fee structure taking into account the issues identified above 
is set out at Appendix 1. The proposals were published on 21 September 2017 
as shown in Appendix 2, inviting representations.  No representations were 
received during the period provided for in the legislation.  
 

PROPOSALS 

9.  It is proposed that the fee for new drivers be increased to reflect the amount of 
officer time required to process applications better, as set out in Appendix 1. 
 

10.  It is proposed that new fees be introduced for new and renewed driver licences 
of less than one year’s duration as set out in Appendix 1. 
   

11.  It is proposed that vehicle licence fees be reduced as set out in Appendix 1. 
 

35



12.  It is proposed that where a vehicle licence is surrendered because a 
replacement vehicle is licenced, a rebate on the cost of the new vehicle licence 
be offered for each whole month remaining until the expiry date of the licence 
to be surrendered as set out in Appendix 1. 
 

13.  It is proposed that for the second and subsequent checks after 1 April 2018 a 
fee be charged in addition to the cost of the DBS certificate as set out in 
Appendix 1 to reflect the officer time involved in checking DBS certificates.  
 

14.  It is proposed that where applicants require individual training arrangements to 
be made, the Council recovers its costs as set out at Appendix 1. 
 

15.  It is proposed that other fees and charges be increased in line with costs, 
rounding to a convenient figure, as set out in Appendix 1.  

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 

As set out in the report. 

Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

 

Finance (Includes ICT) 
The proposals set out within the report are anticipated to be cost neutral to the 
licensing budget but if approved will be kept under review during 2018/19 to 
assess the impact on the service’s income. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  

 
Housing 

None specific. 

Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 

As set out in the report.  

Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 

 
Governance (includes HR) 
The Council has followed the correct procedure by advertising the new fees for 
the required 28 days and has received no representations.   By following this 
procedure the Council has mitigated the prospect of a challenge to the rise in 
fees for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers and operators. 
Author: Dimple Roopchand, Assistant Solicitor, for Brian Keane, Acting 
Managing Director 
 

36



 

Background Papers 
 
None. 

 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
 

 

LG(MP)A 1976 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
 
DBS   Disclosure and Barring Service 

37



APPENDIX 1

ANALYSIS OF FEES AND CHARGES 

2016/17

SERVICE
Current Fee

Proposed 

Increase

Proposed

Fee

£.p % £.p

Hackney Carriages & HC & PH Drivers Licence

Private Hire New Driver (annual) 194.00 20.62 234.00

New  driver (3 year) 356.00 11.24 396.00

Renewal (annual) 118.00 2.54 121.00

Renewal (3 year) 280.00 2.50 287.00

New Driver (licensed for less than 1 year) new fee 115.00 + 5.00/full month

Renewal (licensed for less than 1 year) new fee 65.00 + 5.00/full month

HC Vehicle Licence

New Vehicle 324.00 -10.49 290.00

Renewal 292.00 -0.68 290.00

Rebate on replacement vehicle licence, per full 

month 

new -18.00

PH Vehicle Licence

New Vehicle 324.00 -10.49 290.00

Renewal 292.00 -0.68 290.00

Rebate on surrender per month -18.00

Transfer of Vehicle Proprietor 0.00 0.00 0.00

Replacement Items

- badge 0.00 0.00 0.00

- plate 0.00 0.00 0.00

- platemate 0.00 0.00 0.00

Annual Private Hire Operator Licence

1 to 2 Vehicles 232.00 2.59 238.00

3 to 5 Vehicles 424.00 2.59 435.00

6 to 10 Vehicles 730.00 2.74 750.00

11 to 15 Vehicles 1,113.00 2.52 1,141.00

16 and above 1,648.00 2.55 1,690.00

Private Hire Five Year Operator Licence

1 to 2 Vehicles 692.00 2.60 710.00

3 to 5 Vehicles 1,649.00 2.49 1,690.00

6 to 10 Vehicles 3,181.00 2.48 3,260.00

11 to 15 Vehicles 5,096.00 2.53 5,225.00

16 and above 7,777.00 2.51 7,972.00

Knowledge Test

Knowledge test 50.00 4.00 52.00

Retest full 50.00 4.00 52.00

Retest partial 20.00 0.00 20.00

DBS first driver check after 1st April 2018 44.00 0.00 44.00

DBS each subsequent check after 1st April 2018 44.00 45.45 64.00

Training

Individual arrangements to meet licence 

conditions new fee At Cost (inc. officer time)

2017/18

with effect from 01/04/2018

(all fees include VAT where applicable)

Accy Shared-HC and PH fees -  Appendix 1 v2...fees charges 1718     27/11/17 1

38



APPENDIX 2 

Proposed New Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 

Fees and Charges from 1 April 2018 

 

Hackney and Private Hire Driver’s Licence  Existing Proposed 

New driver annual licence      £194.00 £234.00 

New 3 year driver annual licence     £356.00 £396.00 

Annual driver licence renewal     £118.00 £121.00 

Three year driver licence renewal    £280.00 £287.00 

New driver licence of less than 1 year     £234.00  

Driver licence renewal for less than 1 year     £65.00  

Plus £5.00 for each whole or part of a calendar month to a maximum of  £121.00 

Note: driver licenses for less than 1 year shall only be issued where the applicant is subject to immigration controls. 

 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence    

New vehicle       £324.00 £290.00 

Renewal       £292.00 £290.00 

A rebate of £18.00 shall be paid for each unexpired whole calendar month against a 
new vehicle licence on surrender of an existing vehicle licence and return of door 
panels and plate. 
 

Private Hire Vehicle Licence     

New vehicle       £324.00 £290.00 

Renewal       £292.00 £290.00 

A rebate of £18.00 shall be paid for each unexpired whole calendar month against a 
new vehicle licence on surrender of an existing vehicle licence and return of door 
panels and plate. 
 

Knowledge test      £50.00  £52.00 

DBS Check first check after 1 April 2018   £44.00  £44.00 

DBS Check each subsequent check after 1 April 2018 £44.00  £64.00 

Training (CSE and DA) delivered one to one    At Cost  

(Inc. officer 

time)  

Annual Private Hire Operator Licence   Existing Proposed 

1 to 2 vehicles       £232.00 £238.00 

3 to 5 vehicles       £424.00 £435.00 

6 to 10 vehicles      £730.00 £750.00 

11 to 15 vehicles      £1113.00 £1,141.00 

16 and above       £1,648.00 £1,690.00 

39



 

Five Year Private Hire Operator Licence   Existing Proposed 

1 to 2 vehicles       £692.00 £710.00 

3 to 5 vehicles       £1,649.00 £1,690.00 

6 to 10 vehicles      £3,181.00 £3,260.00 

11 to 15 vehicles      £5,096.00 £5,225.00 

16 and above       £7,777.00 £7,972.00 

  

 

40



 

MINUTES OF THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 

 

10 October 2017 7.30  - 8.45 pm 
 

 

PRESENT 

 

Committee Members 
Councillor Bob Davis (Chair) 
Councillor David Carter (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Simon Carter 
Councillor Joel Charles 
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop 
Councillor Mark Ingall 
Councillor Stefan Mullard 
Councillor Lanie Shears 

 
Also Present 
Matt Cornish, Chief Inspector – Essex Police 
Councillor Tony Edwards 
Adam Pipe, Casualty Reduction Manager – Essex Police 

 
Officers 

Simon Freeman, Head of Finance 
Adam Rees, Governance Support Officer  

 
 
22. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Nick Churchill. 
 

23. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
None. 
 

24. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 5 September 
2017 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.  

 
25. MATTERS ARISING  

 
None. 
 

26. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  

 
None. 
 

27. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS  

41

Agenda Item 11a



 
None. 
 

28. RESPONSES OF THE CABINET TO REPORTS OF THE SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE  

 
None.  
 

29. REVIEW OF ROAD SAFETY AND IMPROVING THE SAFETY OF 

YOUNG DRIVERS - QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION WITH ESSEX 

POLICE  

 
The Chair welcomed both Matt Cornish, Chief Inspector – Essex Police, 
and Adam Pipe, Casualty Reduction Manager – Essex Police to the 
meeting and invited them to speak about road traffic policing in Harlow and 
throughout the whole of Essex. They began by speaking about some of 
the challenges which were faced by the Police. 
 
Adam Pipe said that the road network allowed for the transit of criminal 
activity from one area to another and that often fairly routine traffic 
offences such as not wearing a seatbelt were committed by people also 
looking to carry out non-traffic related criminal activity. 
 
Road policing was intelligence led and this included the use of social 
media to understand where car meet-ups were due to take place. The 
Police had also adapted how it dealt with speed enforcement and other 
dangerous road activity by training communities to use speed guns and by 
using dash cam and CCTV footage to aid with prosecutions. He also 
highlighted the increasing issue of drink and drug related driving incidents, 
and the role of the Road Safety Partnership in helping enforce traffic laws. 
 
In Harlow the number of traffic incidents was relatively low and had 
decreased from 2016. There were some safety issues surrounding young 
drivers but this was part of a national issue. 
 
Matt Cornish drew attention to the work being done towards obtaining a 
Public Space Protection Order for the town centre which would give 
enforcement powers. 
 
In responding to questions by the Committee, Adam Pipe outlined the 
work being done surrounding drink and drug driving, as well as the safety 
of elderly pedestrians and drivers. He explained that traffic calming 
measures were long term solutions and work was being done in relation to 
large developments in other parts of Essex to ensure they were 
incorporated in initial design works. Community intelligence was important 
and any information should be reported in the first instance through 
Crimestoppers. Bikeability was a continuous programme aimed at Year 6 
pupils which helped children be safe whilst cycling on the road. Crucial 
Crew also provided more general road safety information for young 
people. 

42



 
The Committee thanked Matt Cornish and Adam Pipe for attending. 
 

30. WORK PLAN  

 
The Committee received a report summarising its work plan for 2017/18. 
 
In response to a question by Councillor Simon Carter, Simon Freeman, 
Head of Finance explained that the Review of the Church Langley Fund 
was intended to be conducted alongside the Review of Landscaping 
Services Provided by HTS. A scoping report would be brought to the 
meeting in March. 
 
Councillor Ingall spoke about concerns which had been raised about the 
introduction of Universal Credit and possible adverse effects surrounding 
rent arrears and homelessness. 
 
Councillor Simon Carter declared a non-pecuniary interest as Chair of 
Streets 2 Homes. 
 
The Committee agreed that it wanted to look at the implementation of the 
Universal Credit scheme and how it’s impacting on claimants in Harlow. A 
scoping report would be considered at the meeting in November. 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 
A The work plan be noted. 

 
B A scoping report for the Review of the Church Langley Fund be 

considered by the Committee at the meeting on 13 March 2018. 
 
C A review looking at the implmentation of the Universal Credit 

scheme and how it’s impacting on claimants in Harlow be added 
to the Work Plan with a scoping report to be considered by the 
Committee at the meeting on 28 November 2017. 

 
31. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  

 
None. 
 

32. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  

 
None. 
 

  
 
 

 CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE 

43



 

MINUTES OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 

 

21 November 2017 7.30  - 8.10 pm 
 

 

PRESENT 

 

Committee Members 
Councillor Edna Stevens (Vice-Chair, in the Chair) 
Councillor Lanie Shears 
Councillor Ian Beckett 
Councillor Nick Churchill 
Councillor Karen Clempner 
Councillor Michael Garnett 
Councillor John Strachan 
 

 
Officers 

Michael Pitt, Environment and Licensing Manager 
Dimple Roopchand, Assistant Solicitor 
David Taylor, Principal Environmental Health Officer 
Denise Westwood, Junior Legal Assistant 
Jo Maskell, Governance Support Officer 
 

 
APOLOGIES  
Councillor Tony Hall 
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop 
 
 
 
23. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
Councillors Ian Beckett, Karen Clempner, Mike Garnett, Lanie Shears, 
Edna Stevens and John Strachan all declared a non-pecuniary interest in 
agenda item 5(a) (Petition: Licensed Vehicle Standards – Tinted Windows) 
as they were party to the original Committee decision on 11 July 2017. 
 

24. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 
2017 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

 
25. MATTERS ARISING  

 
None. 
 
 
 

44

Agenda Item 11b



26. WRITTEN QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS 
 

a) Petition: Licensed Vehicle Standards - Tinted Windows 
 
The Committee received a petition containing 91 signatures, which was 
presented by a representative of the Private Hire Drivers Association, 
objecting to the amended Licensed Vehicle Standards regarding tinted 
windows (as agreed at the Council meeting on 13 July 2017). 
 
In light of the issues raised by the Private Hire Drivers Association, the 
Committee acknowledged that the requirement for any newly licensed 
vehicle’s rear windows to have a light transmittance of at least 50% 
merited further investigation and review.  
 
It was agreed that the review should be undertaken urgently and the 
results reported back to the next meeting of this Committee.   
 

RESOLVED that a report on a review of the recently amended 
Licensed Vehicle Standards regarding tinted windows be submitted 
to the January meeting of this Committee.  

 
b) Written Questions 

 
None. 
 

27. COMMITTEE WORK PLAN  

 
The Committee received its work plan for the remainder of the current 
municipal year. 
 
 RESOLVED that  
 

(a) the work plan is noted; 
 

(b) the unallocated item ‘Street Trading Licensing Conditions’ be 
allocated to the March meeting of this Committee. 

 
28. DESIGNATION OF LICENSED VEHICLES UNDER THE EQUALITY ACT 

2010  

 
The Committee received a report on guidance received from the 
Department of Transport, proposing that local authorities should compile a 
list of vehicles which would be specified as wheelchair accessible (to be 
known as ‘designated vehicles’).   

 
Whilst this was not mandatory, the Committee agreed that such a list 
would give information which passengers in wheelchairs would find very 
helpful. 

 

45



In order for vehicles to be included in their list, each local authority would 
need to decide on the accessibility requirements which designated 
vehicles would need to meet.  The guidance suggested that these vehicles 
should be able to accommodate a ‘reference wheelchair’ standard, as 
defined by the Public Service Vehicles Accessibility Regulations 2000.   
 
 RESOLVED that 
 

(a) it is Recommended to Full Council that the powers in the 
Equality Act 2010 to designate licensed vehicles which are 
capable of carrying a passenger when seated in a reference 
wheelchair, be approved; 

 
(b) the Licensing Team be requested to explore with 

stakeholders, the issues surrounding the provision of 
vehicles in the licensed fleet which are specifically adapted to 
carry as wide a range of wheelchairs as is practicable; and a 
report be submitted to a future meeting of the Committee.   

 
29. HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE FEES AND CHARGES 

PROPOSALS  

 
Following the annual review and in advance of the Council’s budget setting 
process, the Committee received a report proposing revised Hackney 
Carriage and private hire licence fees. 
 
No representations had been received during the consultation period for 
the proposals. 
 

RECOMMENDED TO FULL COUNCIL that, as part of the Council’s 
annual budget setting process, the proposed revised Hackney 
Carriage and private hire licensing fee structure, as set out in 
Appendix 1 of the report, be adopted with effect from 1 April 2018.   

 
30. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  

 
None. 
 

31. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  

 
None. 
 
 
 
 

 CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE 
 

46


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	51 Questions from the Public
	52 Questions from Councillors

	9a Referral from Licensing Committee on 21 November 2017 - Designation of Licensed Vehicles under the Equality Act 2010
	Equality Act 2010  Appendix A

	9b Referral from Licensing Committee on 21 November 2017 - Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Fees and Charges Proposals
	HC and PH fees -  Appendix 1
	HC and PH Fees - Appendix 2

	11a Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 10 October 2017 of Scrutiny Committee
	11b Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 21 November 2017 of Licensing Committee

